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 STATE OF NEW JERSEY, 

   

                           Plaintiff, 

 vs. 

 

ERNEST V. TOROIANO, JR., et al.,   

                       Defendants. 
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: 
: 

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 
LAW DIVISION/CRIMINAL PART 
CAPE MAY COUNTY 
 
Criminal Matter 
  
Indictment Number: 23-3-00038-S 
          

Case No.: CPM-22-000535 
 
 
 ORDER DISMISSING INDICTMENT 
 

 
: 
 

 

THIS MATTER having been opened to the Court by David A. Stefankiewicz of the Law 

Firm of Stefankiewicz & Belasco, LLC, attorneys for Defendant, Steven Mikulski, by way of 

Motion for an Order to Dismiss Indictment and Brian Uzdavinis, Deputy Attorney General, 

appearing on behalf of the State of New Jersey; and the Court having considered the submissions 

and arguments of counsel; and for good cause shown;   

 IT IS on this ___ day of ___________, 2023 ORDERED and ADJUDGED as follows:  

1. The above captioned Indictment returned on March 10, 2023 be and hereby is 

DISMISSED. 

                                                                      __________________________ 
                   Bernard E. DeLury, Jr., P.J. Cr.                                   

 

CPM-22-000535 05/24/2023 03:27:39 PM Pg 1 of 2 Trans ID: CRM2023520897 



 
 
 

 

2 

 

 

CPM-22-000535 05/24/2023 03:27:39 PM Pg 2 of 2 Trans ID: CRM2023520897 



STEFANKIEWICZ & BELASCO, LLC
DAVID A. STEFANKIEWICZ
111 East 17th Avenue Suite 100
North Wildwood, New Jersey 08260
Telephone: (609) 729-5250
Telefax: (609) 729-0954
dstef@sblawteam.com
ID 0339819858
Attorney(s) for Defendant 
________________________________

:  SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 
STATE OF NEW JERSEY, :  LAW DIVISION-CRIMINAL PART

:  CAPE MAY COUNTY
Plaintiff :

:  
v. :

:  
ERNEST V. TROIANO, et al.,             : Case No. CPM-22-000535
                                                               : Indictment No.: 23-3-00038-S

:      
Defendants. :

:  Criminal Action
:  NOTICE OF MOTION TO

____________________________________:  DISMISS INDICTMENT      
TO:     Brian Uzdavinis, DAG

Division of Criminal Justice
25 Market Street, P.O. Box 085
Trenton, NJ 08625
Filed Via NJ E-Courts

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on Friday, June 23, 2023 at 11:00 a.m., the undersigned, 

David A. Stefankiewicz of the Law Firm of Stefankiewicz & Belasco, LLC, attorneys for 

Defendant, Steven Mikulski, shall make application before the above-named Court for an Order 

dismissing the afore-mentioned Indictment, and for such other relief as the Court may deem 

appropriate under the circumstances.  

Reliance shall be placed and Exhibits attached thereto. 

A form of order is also included in the moving papers.  

Dated:      May 24, 2023          ____________________________________    
                David A. Stefankiewicz

    Attorney for Defendant
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STEFANKIEWICZ & BELASCO, LLC 

David A. Stefank.icwicz 
dstef{?sb la\\ team.com 

111 East 17th Street, Suite 100 
North Wildwood, New Jersey 08260 

Telephone: 609- 729-52 50 
Facsinule: 609-1 29-0954 

May 24, 2023 

H0n. Bernard E. DeLury, Jr.. P.J.Cr. 
Superior Court of New Jersey 
_-\tlantic Cape May County 
Law Oi\·ision-Criminal Pa.i1 
4997 Unami Boulevard 
:\1ay5 Landing, NJ 08233 

RE: State v. Earnest. V. Troiano, Jr., et al 
Indictment No.: 23-3-00038-S 

DeJr Jujgc" Del ury: 

Robert T. Belasco 
rbelasco@sblawteam.com 

Ple.ase accept this letter brief 011 behalf of the defendant, · Steven Mikulski (hereinafter, 

··.\1ikulski .. ) in com1ection with his Motion to Dismiss the Indictment now returnable before Your 

H0n0r on F1iJay, June 23. 2023 at 11 :00 a.m. 

Prelimina rY Statement 

t;nder Indictment >lo. 23-3-00038-S. the defendant, Steven Mikulski (hereinafter, 

··Mikulski") is charged with Official Misconduct in violation of N.J.S.A. 2C: 30-2 (2nd degree) 

(Count III); Theft by Unbwful Taking in vio lation ofN.J.S.A. 2C: 20-3 (2nd degree) (Count VI); 

Tampering with Public Records in violation of N.J .S.A. 2C: 28-7a(2) (3 'd degree) (Count IX); and 

Falsifyitig or Tampering with Records in violation of N.J.S.A. 2C: 2C: 21 -4a (4 111 degree) (Count 

Xll) . Ilis Ll' •Jdc11<la11{s, Emt'St V. Troiano. Jr. (hereinafter. ·'Troiano") and Peter J. Byron 

thcrcinarler ... Byll,11··) arc" similarly charged under the same lndictmcnt, a lthough the theory of 

ii :ibility :ind proofs with respect to these individmls is starkly different. (A copy of the Indictment 

1s .Ht..1ched ::is Exhibit A. ) 
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According to statute. :t-:i.J.S.A. 40: 52: 14-17.6(c)(2). in order to obtain State Health 

Benefits an elected ofticial must work 35 h0urs per week. The statute does not prescribe how. 

where, or when the hours must be worked. J\s i111po1tantly, the stat11tc docs not define what 

activities constitute ··work'' by an elected official, or how the hours arc to be tracked. With respei.:t 

to \itikulski, there is no question that he worked at least 35 hours per week, pa1iicularly when one 

considers not only the hours he spent at City Hall, but also the substantial amount of time he 

devoted to the position outside of City Hall. However, in prosecuting Mikulski, the State has 

constrned the statute in an overly begrndging fashion and arbitrarily refuses to consider the time 

he dedicated to the joh outside of City Hall in applying the 35-hour requirement. Even at that, if 

l)llC exclude:- a sho1i ,·arntion and " few days he srcnt one week tending to hi$ ai ling wife. he 

awraged more than 35 hours per week in City Hall. The State's inatiunal myopia tainkd the cntin.: 

grnnd jury presentation because the State orchestrated the grand jury to consider only hours spent 

in City Hnll, nnd withheld the clearly exculpatory evidence of the time Mikulski devoted to the job 

outside of City Hall in thl.: dcterminatil'll of whether he worked the requisite hours. In fact. the 

State witltl1eld clearly exculpatory evidence by not presenting the fact that he devoted in excess of 

:~5 hours per week to his position as commissioner. 

fn obtaining the aforementioned Indictment aga1n:-t Mikulski, the State's pre$entation to 

the grand ju1y was fatally defective. (Copies of the Tnu1scripts of the febrnary 17, 2023 and March 

10, 2023 presentment have been supplied to the Court by the: DAG in connection with co­

defendant's Motion.) Among other things, the State withheld clearly exculpatory evidence, 

presented much of the evidence in a false light or in a manner that amounted to "half-truths," 

solicited improper expert testimony from the investigator who testified, refused to answer inquiries 

by grand jurors about critical issues that struck to the heart of the charges against Mikulski and the 

2 
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~rnnd jury's essential function, improperly instructed the grand jury as to the law. confused proofs 

involving the co-defendants· conduct and the w nduct of other third parties with that of Mikulski 

Juring questioning, and imprvperly juiucd all three dc-fendants into one grand jury proceeding 

despite the fact that the charges ~gains! each defendant were unrelated and involved starkly 

different proofs, and perhaps antagonistic defenses. thereby prejudicing Mikulski with the taint of 

the stronger ~md more infbmm:1tory evidence against co-defendants Troiano and Byron. The 

presentation alsu ran afoul of R. 3 :6 in that grand jurors who voted were not present fo r testimony 

which, according to the State, required a credibility detennination. Singularly, or in combination, 

these defects indelihly stained the presentation and deprived the grand jury of its decision-making 

function. The egrcgioHS errors an<l omissions 0n the p:1rt of the State rendere<l it impossible fo r 

.1\rlikulski lO gee :.i fair aud impartial dcten11i nalion by the gnrnd jury. 

Brian A. Pclloni. Esquire, has fikd a Motion to Dismiss the lndictrnent on behalf of 

Troiano which was argued ( \fl May l 0, 2023, wherein he alleges fata l defects common lo all three 

defondants in the gram! jur) presentation. On behalf of \tlikttlski, l join in on his Motion and adopt 

by reference lhe legal arguments that are common to Mikulski, particularly those that pertain to 

the R. 3:6-6 defect. 

Under these circumstances, as it relates to Mikulski, the Indictment must be dismissed. 

Introduction & Background 

The material infomrntion in this b1ief, and in this section in paiticular, derives exclusively 

from the discovery provided tO the defense prior to the grand ju1y presentment, so it was well 

known to the State when it presented the case on Febrnary 17, 2023 and March l 0, 2023 

respectively. 

The City of Wi ldwood is a municipal entity governed by the Walsh Act, N.J.S.A. 40: 70-1 

3 
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N seq. which establishes a Commission fonn of government. In this fom1 of government. nil 

municipal pc,wc-rs nrc \'e:-ted inn Board 0 f Cnmmissioner::: (the. ··Roarcl). In Wildwood, three (3) 

.:ommissi1rncr:.- arc ckc1cJ kl sen I.' four ( -4) yc.\f tcnns. Tht' commissioners elect one commissioner 

as mayor, who serves as chair or tht! Board. lhe rnay1.)r has no powers or duties above and beyond 

th(,se of his fellow commissioner$, except to preside ovt:r bi-monthly Board meetings. The Bllard 

has '·compkte control' over the municipality's affairs. See N.J.S.A. 40: 72-2. The commissioners 

serve as department directors in addition to the1r legislative functilms. In Wildwood, the 

commissioners manage an annual budget of about $37,000,000.00, so their duties are significant. 

Mikulski ran for office in 2019. He was a Navy veteran. owned a local luncheonette, had a 

backgrnund 111 business, aml \\ as a family mun. He was committed tn turning the City of 

Wildwood around. Js it had been in decline: frir se\'l:!ral decades. He was cb:tcd hJ his ti.1st lt:nn as 

:1 .--ommissi0ner in 1\cwemhcr of 2l1 It)_ He was sworn into ofti~c on January 2. 2020. L3yron, who 

w:1s :.in i1h.·umbc11t, was dcl:tcd lltay'or. Troi:mo, who had served as mnyor/c~,mmissioner for ahoul 

J dtx"ade or so. lost th.: dedion. s0 he was oul of the picture. As a commissioner. Mikulski was 

appointed to be the key position of Director of Public Affairs and Public Safety. As the head of 

Public Affairs and Public Safety, Mikulski supervised the Police Department, Fire Department, 

Beach Parrol, :viunicipal Court and was also in charge of Code Enforcement. J Ie remained in those 

positions at all relevant times. 

The prnsecntinn against Mikulski revolve!-: entirely around his receipt of State Health 

lnsur~Ul~l' nl'11di1s (hl.·1 t·i1uftcr, .. hcnlrh bcncfits.,) during his tenure as a n~mmissiona. The State 

claims thnl the Cit) paiJ apprnAimately $31,000.00 i11 prl'miun1s. umJ tlll.' insurance pl tm pnid out 

approximately ~72.000.00 in claims, on his behalf during the rdt:·v,ml time period. A-::; will b\! 

disrnssed. and according to stah1te. in order to quali(v for health benefits, an elected ofiicial nccu 

4 
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only work 35 hours per week. Again, the statute does not prescribe how, where, or when the work 

must be performed, what c0nstitutes work, or how hours are to be tracked. The State's entire case 

rc~ts upon the specious premise that \tlikulski did not work 35 hours per week. ln fact, Mikulski 

worked well in excess of 35 homs per week and, indeed, easily qualified for health b~nefils. 

According to statute. if he did work 35 hours per week, he was then lawfully entitled co receive 

health benefits. The statute creates no other conditions for eligihility other than ·'working'· 35 hours 

per week. In prosecuting Mikulski, the State wrongly contends that only hours worked at City 

Hall count toward the 35-hour requirement, and that no hours worked outside of City Hall, no 

matter how many. or under what circumstances. can be considered. This irrational interpretation 

has no basis in law and completely ignores the reality of what heing a commis$ioner in a city such 

Effective May 21, 20 I 0, the New Jersey Legislature passed a law which limited the 

eligibility of elecred officials for Statt' Health Renefits. As of May 2 l. 2010. only elected ot1icials 

who worked at least 35 hours per week were considered "employees" for health benefit eligibi lity 

purposes. See N.J.S.A. 52: 14-l 7.6(c)(2). Prior to passage of the new statutory provisions, 

"employee'' broadly included "appointive or elective officers'' without regard to the hours worked. 

XJ.S.A. 52: 14- l 7.6(c)(l ). The Ylay 21, 2010 enactment defined an eligible employee as follows: 

(i) a full -time appointive or elective officer whose hours of 
work are fixed at 35 or more per week. A full time employee 
of the State, or a full-time employee of an employer other 
th:111 the State who appears on a regular payroll and receives 
a salary or wages for an average of the number of hours per 
week :-is pre::;crihed hy the goveming body of the 
patticipntin~ employc-r which number of hours worked shall 
he i;l,nsitkrL·d full-time, determined by resolution nnci not 
kss th.lll 25, l)r (ii) au appt1i11tin: or ~kdc::d officer, a.11 
employee of the State, or an employee of an employer other 
than the State who has or is eligible for health benefits 
coverage under P. L. 196 I. c. 49 (C.52: 14-1 7 .25 et seq.) or 

5 
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sections 31 through 41 of the P.L. 2007. c. 103 (C. 52: 14-
17.46. l et seq. on tl1e effective date and continuously 
thereafter provided the officer or employee is covered by the 
definition in paragraph ( 1) of this subsection. Id. ( emphasis 
added) 

The intent of the 20 l 0 amendment with regard to appointed or elected officials was to limit 

eligibility for health benefits to only those oflicials whose "primary employment" is their position 

in local government, such as Mikulski. Unfortunately, the 2010 amendment did not identify what 

constituted "work," or explain how the work hours were to be tracked for the purposes of 

eligibili ty, despite the fact that virtually all elected officials in New Jersey are salaried and do not 

have a set schedule, nor do they typically clock in or out. The 35-hour minimum was a new 

requirement. Understandably, local governing units required guidance and clarification in order to 

comply with the law. 

The >few Jersey Division of Local Govemment Services ("DLGS'') was responsible for 

providing guidance to local officials on the implementation of the new law. On May 17, 2010 the 

DLGS issued Local Finance Notice ("LFN") 2010-12. (A copy of this LFN is attached as Exhibit 

B.) When LFN 2010-12 was issued it was anticipated that the question of how to calculate "work 

hours" in order to determine ·'full-time" employment, including the impact on elected officials, 

would be addressed by the State Health Benefits Commission. The LFN provided, "The State 

Health Benefits Commission will soon provide guidance about the meaning of "full-time" 

and certification of time worked for elected officials." Pending guidance from the State Health 

Benefit~ Commission, the LFN explained as follows: 

The law appears intended to limit SHBP benefits to elected and 
appointed individuals to those whose primary employment (i.e., 35 
hours/week) is their govcnunent position. This is a new concept 
and raises questions, especially regarding elected officials, 
concerning how the 35 hours minimum is calculated; what 
activities count as "work hours." 

6 
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The State Health Benefits Commission will need to address the 
multitude of different circumstances presented by the requirement. 
As the law is new, the Commission will address the issue in the 
near futw·e. In the meantime. local officials should review the 
law with their legal advisors, and if decisions need to be made in 
advance of Commission Guidance, carefuilv consider the law 
and its intent to make reasonable decisions. (Emphasis added) 

Contrary to the LFN, no guidance whatsoever was ever provided. so municipal units were left to 

their own on how to administer the law. According to the LFN, elected officials need only make 

··reasonable decisions'" regarding health benefits. Consequently, in absence of guidance, the new 

legislation created nothing more than an "honor system" for elected officials to follow in tenns of 

the 35-hour requirement. Stated otherwise, the statute left it up to the elected officials and, to some 

extent municipalities, to determine qualification for the health benefits. This circumstance has not 

changed and remains the case to this day. 

Shortly after the passage of the amended law, and almost a decade before Mikulski took 

office, Wildwood enacted two Resolutions which addre!-sed the circumstances presented by the 

statutory requirements. On June S, 201 1 Wildwood adopted Resolution 227-6-11. This Resolution 

provided, in pertinent part, that. "each member of the Board of Commissioners of the City of 

Wildwood is hereby considered a full-time employee and works a minimum of thirty-five hours 

per ,veek for the City of Wildwood." (See Exhibit C attached. Emphasis added) On that same 

date, Wildwood also enacted Resolution 226-6-11 , which indicated that in order to qualify for 

State Health Benefos an elected official would have to w0rk an "average" of 35 hours per week. 

(See Exhibit D attached. Emphasis added) Like the statute itself, these Resoh1tions did not contain 

nrnch, if :111:·, guidance ~is tv how the hours should bi: l:alculatcd or tracked. Thus. the elected 

officials remained on the "honor system'' in connection with the detennination of whether or not 

7 
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they qualified for the health benefits. To reiterate, elected officials were only required to act 

reasonably in connection with health benefits. That was the case when Mikulski took office, and 

remains the case. 

Discovery provided by the State reveals that shortly after Mikulski was sworn in, he 

inquired of Human Relations ("HR") whether he could obtain the State Health Benefits. Based 

upon his own limited research, he believed that he could. ~vlayor Byron had been receiving the 

State Health Benefits for several years duiing his tenure as an elected official. Former Mayor 

Troiano had always received health benefits during his tenure, as did at least one other 

commissioner. (There were only 4 other commissioners elected after the law was amended, and 3 

of th0se had received health benefits. The one who did not receive health henefits obtained them 

through another job.) Hl)Wevcr: l IR advised him that his position was considered ·'pa.ti-time," 

notwithstanding the aforementioned Resolutions stating otherwise (See Exhibits C & 

D), and said he did not qualify. HR told him that the State was conducting an investigation into 

the issue. At that point, he did not pursue the health benefits. but thereafter in acc-ordance with the 

aforementioned LF~ consulted with legal counsel. He requested a legal opinion from the City 

Solicitor, Esquire, and outside labor/personnel counsel, Esquire. 

On February 6, 2020 rendered a written legal opinion that did not explicitly say 

whether or not Mikulski qualified for health benefits, but concluded that an elected official 

working 35 hours a week was indeed eligible to obtain the State Health Benefits. (The February 6, 

2022 Legal Opinion is attached hereto as Exhibit E.) During a voluntary and recorded interview 

conducted hy :-JJSP Investigators on Octoher 21. 2020 Mikulski said that - - and 

- recomn11:.·11dcd that he keep trnrk 1.1f his hour:; in thL' event he applied for health benefos, 

but did not explain what activities constituted ··v.•ork" or how he should track his time. (A 

8 
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Transcript of Mikulski' s interview with NJSP investigators on October 21, 2022 is attached hereto 

as Exhibit F.) 

Again, \tfikulski did not immcdi:ltely apply for the health benefits, but waited until about 

5 months into bis freshman te1m to do so. According to Mikulski. by May of 2020 it was obvious 

that he was working well in excess of an average of 35 hours per week. This conclusion was based 

upon the actual time he spent in City Hall for which he clocked in and out, some additional time 

he spent there, and his outside activities as a commissioner and head of various busy departments. 

By then. he was typically spending 35 hours or more per week in City llall, with the exception of 

a vacation(s) and a few days here and there to care for his wife who was undergoing cancer 

treatments. He w:1s nlso working many hours out,ide the office before, during, and after nornrn l 

business hours. This Wl)fk included altcnJing meetings, tt)\\'11 hall evc111s, ci vie events, busi11css 

openings, parades and festivals, inspections, ·work with the fire Department and Beach Patrol, 

addre.<;sing citizen c0mp1aints and constituent inqui1;es, investigating code violations. and 

performing basic community caretaking and ambassadorship. (See Exhibit F.) Prior to becoming 

a commissioner, he and his wife owned mid operated a luncheonette called the Key West Caf<'.· for 

about 13 years. vVhen he ran for office, he trained a replacement for his position, anticipating that 

he would not be available to work the luncheonette. By the time he applied for the health benefits, 

\tfikulsk.i was working 1w more S how-s per week at the luncheonette. Ile worked those 8 hours on 

weekends only. He considered his elected position to be his foll-time employment. This was the 

basis of his application for bcnctits. Although ivliku lski ·was initia lly designak:d as "part-time" on 

:1 Conn l lR prepared and Mil-..7.tlski signed when he took cd'ficc in fanu:1ry ot2022, HR duly preparecl 

a ··payrL,11 -:hangc i11 sl,1tu:;" l'unn that Jcsignated l1im a~ "full -lime·· iJJ May Llf2020 ~<.i1n·s11t)t1di11g 

to his application for health benefits. By applying, Mikulski signed another fonn to reduce his 

9 
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salary to pay for his health benefit contribution. HR authoriLed his change of status and approved 

his applic:Hion for benefits, as did the New Jersey Division of Pensi<ms and Benefits. Notably, all 

of this infonnation was known to Lhc Prosecutor nnd NJSP Tm·cstigators long before the Statc·s 

presentment to the grand jury. 

When the case was presented to the grand jury, the State withheld clearly exculpatory 

evidence, materially misled the grand jury both factually and legally, and in contradiction of the 

plain language of the statutory amendment. The State also presented improper expert opinion 

testimony to the grand jury, as well as other improper inflammatory evidence that was entirely 

irrelevant to the charges against Mikulski. In the absence of any claim of conspiracy or collusion, 

lh1.'. Stmc imp1'Llp1.~rly jl)inetl defendants Trni~llll and Byrun in !he gr:rnd jury prcscnt[ltion even 

thou~h their cases were attenuated in time irnd largely reli~d upon entirely Jillercnt evidence and 

theories of rnlpahility. Arguably, their defenses are antrigonistic. This improper joinder not only 

resulted in an unduly coufusing pres0nt;-ition, but more impotiantly, it subsrnntially preju<lict'd 

Mikulski as the evidence of wrongdoing on the part ofTrnia1w and Byron was nwrc compelliug. 

Additionally, the State erred when it pennitted grand jurors to deliberate on March 10, 2023 despite 

the fact that they had not been present for material testimony on Febrnary 17, 2023 even though 

the credibility of State·s witness was squarely at issue. See R. 3:6-6. 

Argument 

It is well settled that an Indictment returned by a properly constituted grand jury is 

presumed valid, and should not be dismissed except upon the "clearest and plainest grounds." 

State v. New Jersey Trade Waste Ass'n, 96 XJ. 8 (1984); State v. Welect, 10 NJ. 355, 364 (1952); 

State v. Clarke, 198 N.J. Super. 219, 228 (App. Div. 1985). Unless the State's misconduct clearly 

infringes upon the grand jury's decision-making function, an otherwise valid Indictment should 
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not be dismissed. State v. Buonadonna, 122 N.J. 22, 48-49 (1991); State v. Scharnberg, 146 Super. 

559,566 (App. Div. 1977); State v. Engel, 249 N.J. Super. 336 (App. Div. 1991). However, 

dismissal of an Indidment is certainly appropriate if it is established that a violation substantially 

influenced the grand jury's decision to indict, or if there is a real doubt that the determination 

ultimately reached was not anived at fairly and impartially. When a person's fate is before a grnnd 

jury, he is constitutionally entitled to have nis case considered by an impartial and unbiased body 

capable of deciding the issue of probable cause on the evidence fairly submitted to it. Bank of 

Nova Scotia v. Un ited States, 487 U.S. 250 (1988), quoting United States v. Mechanick, 475 U.S. 

66 ( 1986). See also, State v. Engel, supra. 

The " ... grand jury has always occupied a high place :is an instrnment of justice in our 

system of criminal law .. :· State v. Delfino, 100 N.J. 154, 165 (19~5). ln order to fulfill its 

·' . .. c0nstirnti0nal role 0f standing between citizens and the state," Delfino, at 164, the grand j ury 

is asked to determine whether" ... a basis exisrs for subjecting the accused t0 trial.'' Trap Rock 

Indus., Inc. v. Kohl, 59 N.J. 47 1, 4S7 (1971). Specifically, the grand jury must dctenninc whether 

the State has established a prima facie case that a crime has been committed, and the accused has 

committed it. Id. at 487-488. 

The duty of the grand jury extends beyond simply bringing the guilty to trial. The grand 

Jury also has the very important responsibility to '' ... protect the innocent from unfounded 

prosecuti0n'1 State v. Murphy. 110 N.J. 20. 29 (1988). This responsibility to protect the innocent 

has its roots in English history, and this responsibility has ·' . .. continued constitutional 

significance." Set'.' State v. LeFurge, 101 N.J. 404,418 (19S6). The LeFurge Court observed that 

one of the most important functions of the grand jury is ·' .. . lo safeguard citizens against arbitrary, 

oppressive and unwarranted criminal accusations.'· LeFurge. at 418. 

l 1 
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The solemn duty of the grand jury ..... is to clear the innocent,'' and that duty is equally as 

important as the obligation to b1ing to trial someone who" ... may he guilty:· State v. Hatt, 139 

NJ. Super. 565, 568 (App. Div. 1976). Clearly, it is indisputable that the duty of the grand ju1y is 

not just to indict guilty people, but to clear those who may be irrnocent. TI1e question is how that 

may be accomplished consistent with the Constitution. 

Our courts have accorded the grand jury remarkable power and independence. \:Vhile the 

New Jersey Supreme Court" ... has expressed a reluctance to intervene in the indictment process," 

a court should not hesitate to dismiss an Indictment when defects in the presentation "trench upon 

the constirutional rights which a proper ctiminal charge is designed to protect." State v. Wein, 80 

N .J. 491, 501 ( 1979). The gr:md jury is not merely a rubber stamp for the whims of the 

Pt\)Sccution. 

A11 indictment will be dismissed for insufficiency of evidence where il is absolutely clear 

that the State fai led to present sufficient evidence to the grand jury to establish a prima.facie case. 

State v. Donovag, 129 N.J.L. 478 (Sup. Ct. 1943). In Donovan. the court defined a prima facie 

case as one in whid1 the Slate has ·' ... presented evidence whid1, by itself, if unexplained or 

uncontradicted establishes first that a crime has been committed, and next, that rhe defendant has 

committed it." 

Notably, as in the case at bar, even where the State has furnished prim a fi1cie proof to the 

5•rnnd jury, an Indictment must be dismissed upon a palpable showing of '·fundamental unfairness" 

or when there is conduct on the part llf the State that amounts to an "interference with the grand 

jury' s decision-making function.·' The C'omi should not hesitate to dismiss :m Indictment if the 

l.'vidence establishes that the Prosc.xll[or·s conduct in 1.lb1Hining an l11dit.:trnc111 a1fa)Lmlnl lo 

subversion of the grand jury process. If the record in the case demonstrates such conduct of that 

12 



CPM-22-000535 05/24/2023 03:27:39 PM Pg 13 of 87 Trans ID: CRM2023520897 

quality, dismissal of the Indictment is the only appropriate remedy. Wein, at 50 l ( 1979); State v. 

Mmphv, 110 NJ. 20, 35 ( 1988). The simple burden of fairness upon the State has been described 

most aptly by the Court in the case of State v. Sivo. 341 NJ. Super. 302 (Law Div. 200 I). In Sivo, 

the Court said: 

ln most Grand Jury proceedings, the Defendant is not present. His 
attorney is not present. The Prosecutor, whose ostensible goal is 
conviction, is the one upcin whom the Defendant must rely for a fair 
hearing. Exposed to lndictment, not represented, a citizen stands 
before a Grand Jury as naked as a jaybird in a Kansas snowstonn. 
In that setting, a Prosecutor bears an enhanced obligation of fair 
play. 

The fact that the State has presented primafacie evidence to warrant 
Indictment does not absolve the State of its ·'fair play" obligation. 
Sivo. at 326. 

The most detailed and illustrative discussion by the New Jersey Supreme Court of th0 grand 

jury process and the State's role in the proceedings cao be found in Statev. Roi@!, 144 NJ. 216 

( 1996). ln Sta:te v. Hogan, the Supreme Court held that the Prosecutor has a duty to infonn the 

grand jury of clearly exculpatory evidence that serves to negate the guilt of the accused, and that 

failure to infonn of such evidence mandates dismissal of the Indictment. Additionally, our 

Supreme Court made it abundantly clear that the State may not deceive the grand jury by presenting 

its evidence in a way that is tantamount to telling a "half-truth." The Court stated: 

In establishing its prima fac:ie case against the a.::cusecl, the State 
may not deceive the Grand Jury or present its evidence in a way that 
is tanlarnount ll) telling the Grand Jury a "half-truth.'' Although the 
Grand Jurv is not the final adjudicator of guilt c:u1d innocence, the 
presence 0fthe right to Tndichnent in the St,ite Constitution indicates 
that the Gr;ind .Ttuy was intended to be more than a nibber stamp of 
the I'rosccutor·s office. Sec Enge\., supr:i. 249 N.J. Super. at 359. 
Our Slate Cons1ituti0n 0nvisio11::; a GranJ Jury that protcds p1::rsons 
who are victims of personal animus, pa1iisanship, or inappropriate 
zeal on the part of the Prosecutor. See Delfino, supra, 100 N.J . at 
164-165; See also. United States v. Serubo, 604 F. 2d 807. 817 (3d 
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Cir. 1979) (discussing devastating personal and professional impact 
of being indicted. and noting that later acquittal often fails to 
alleviate such impact). _Hogan. at 2.~6. 

In the case at bar, there can be little question that the State abdicated its duty of fair play in 

the stilted manner in which it presented the case against Mikulski, and thereby unfairly prejudiced 

the grand jury. The stilted presentation rendered it impossible for the grand jury to clear Mikulski 

of the spurious charges against him. 

I. The State ·withheld Clearly Exculpatory Evidence and Presented the Case in 
an Underhanded and Unduly Confusing l\1anner. 

One of the challenges for the defense in this Motion is to pinpoint all of the material defects 

in th~ grand jury presentation which compel dismissJ.l, as there were numerous missteps by the 

State in seeking to indict Mikulski. However, there can be little doubt that ha<l the State prc:::;cntc":d 

the evidence fairly, it is quite likely tha1 Mikulski would have been cleared of any supposed 

c,iminal wrongdoing. In con:=:idcring the arguments that follow, the Court must consider that all 

of the charges against Mikulski arc predicated upon the State"::; misguilkd contention that he did 

not work 35 hours per week as required by P.L. 2010, c.2. The law is straightforward. If Mikulski 

worked 35 hours per week, he was entitled to health benefits, irrespective of where or when that 

work was performed. Arguably, he was entitled to benefits no mailer hov,, he tracked his hours so 

long as they averaged 35 hours per week. By the time the case was presented to the grand jury, the 

State had Mikulski's rime sheets which reflected only hours spent in City Hall. The time sheets 

dernonstrntcd that Mikulski avcragecl around 35 hours per week at City Hall, except for a couple 

of wcl:ks when be was on vacatiun or tending to his wife. (Interestingly, other than 2 timcsheets 

showing that he worked in excess of 35 hours per wcck, the only other time sheets presented to 

the grancl jmy related to a 2 week vacation and the week his wife was ill.) The State also had bis 
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·•_journal.'' which demonstrated that he work~d additional hours at City Hall above and beyond that 

which wa::. reflected on the time sheets. Further, the State had his uncontrnverted testimony 

indicting that, like many dedica ted dcctcd oflicials, he worked a substmtial number of hours per 

week outside of City Hall which time was not rc:fl ecwd in his time sheets or journal. The Stale 

knew Mikulski was working between 35 hours and 45 hours per week on average, yet withheld 

thi s critical infonnation from the grand jury. (See Exhibi t F) Further, the State compounded the 

error by suggesting that the grand jury CL)11Sidcr t)nly hours spent in Ci ty Hall. 

When Mikulski voluntarily agreed to be interviewed by NJSP Investigators -

and on October 21. 2020, he was quite clear that he worked at least 35 

hours per week on average. (See ExJ1ibit F.) During the interview he was also clear that his job as 

commissioner was his ·'primary .. and "full-time" employment. The infomrntion provided to the 

State could not have been clearer. He said, in pertinent part, as fo llows: 

Mikulski: A. He !solicitor] said according to statute you had to have, work a 
minimum of at least 35 hours. Okay? I'm working 35 hours at, at least in the office, a 
minimum that's what I'm clocking in and out at. 

Det-: Q. Okay. 

Mikulski: Okay? It doesn't include all the time I spend on the street, um you know 
meetings on zoom, being up at the beach after hours, uh working with the fire department, 
you know getting different, you know things that are going with the city, everything that's 
involved. We are as, as commissioners and mayors of the town we arc basically ambassadors. 
So, everywhere we go, ever)' event that's happening whether its American Legion, whether 
its VFW, we are involved with everything, parades, events, we're there. 

*** 
Det. - Q. Okay. Do you consider the mayor and commissioners of the City 
of Wildwood to be fuU-time, part-time or seasonal position? 

Mikulski: A. Ha, defmitely full-time. All of us, I'm just not going to say the 
mayor, all of us. Basically, the way it ·works in our jurisdiction is we're all considered 
commissioners and commjssioners elect the mayor. That's' how it works in our area. Um I 
know the hours I work. I, r know that I'm there eight o'clock, nine o'clock in the morning 
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and last night l didn't get out until, I had a zoom meeting until seven o'clock last night. So, 
it's a long day. 

Det.-

Mikulski: 

Det.­
would you say? 

Mikulski: 

Mikulski: 

Det.-

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

*** 

ls your position considered full-time, part-time or seasonal? 

Full time. 

*** 

\Vhat's the minimum you work and the maximum per day 

Uh, five to ten [hours]. 

Five to ten. Okay? 

Mm hm. (Tndkating yes.) 

And per week'? 

Mikulski: A. T hit·ty-five to forty-five in the office. And outside of town I mean 
1 don' t get off the phone sometimes until nine, ten o' doek at night. 

Det.-: 
uh ... 

Mikulski: 

Det.-

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

*** 

And then when and bow often are you at city hall'? You said 

Sometimes I can be there seven days a week. 

Okay. 

Mikulski: A. For the most part its Monday through Friday. And then 
during the summertime I might be up at the beach with beach patrol on the weekends. 
They have different things going on at the heach, they have rowing contests. they have 
things oYer at Hereford Inlet. They h.lve uh yon know just everything. 

Throughout the course' t)f Mikulski's lengthy interview wilh the NJSP i11vc:-ligat1Jrs, the 

skein of his testimony was that as a commissioner he performs a lvt of •,,vork inside and outside 

City Hall. He persistently testified that he was working between 35 and 45 hours per week on 
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average. lndeed, it would be shockingly nai"ve, if not willfully negligent, for the State to believe 

that Mikulski'!- role as a commissi0ner did not require him to engage in a significant amount of 

activity outside City Ila!!. Yet, the State \vithhcld this clearly exculpatory evidence (i.e., his 

statement) from the grand jury, and focused the grand jury exclusively on the hours he spent in 

City Hall, which were reflected on his time sheets. (The State knew the time sheets reflected only 

hours spent in City Hall.) ln fact, the State misled the grand jury into believing that only hours 

spent in City Hall were part of the 35-bour calculus. This is not what the statute requires, and thus 

constituted an erroneous and oveniding legal imperative that penneakd the grand jury 

presentation and ultimately poisoned it as well. To punctuate this point, the grand jury rightfully 

questioned whether they were required to consider 0nly hours spent in City Hall in its 

Jeiennination l)f whether Mikulski qualified for health hc11efits, or whether they wen; per111ittccl 

to consider hours w0rked outside of City Hall. 

Grand Juror: Q. 'Where does it [statute] say the 35 hours must be worked at City 
Hall? 

Prosecutor: I can answer that to thl' effect that I don't believe any of the evidence 
that would show would address that? ( l T65, 1-6) 

The Prosecutor's cryptic response was an evasive non-answer. Of course. the honest and only 

;mswer to that question was that the statute does not require that the 35 hours he worked at City 

Hall. Shame on the Pr0secutor for not answering that simple question in a fortluight manner, and 

then for intimating that the question wa~ a factual issue as opposed to one purely 1)1' law. Again, 

this dec-epti0n comp0un<led the State's <luhiou:,; tactic lo withhold Mikulski's testimony that he 

Wtlrkcd wdl 111 c:xccss or 35 lwurs per week. consist ing of the hours cl0ckcd in :1t City l b!L the 

extra time he spent at City Hall before and after he clocked out, and his unrefuted testimony that 

he put in a substantial amount of work outsi<le of City Hall. By arbitrarily suggesting to the grand 
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jury that it could consider only hours spent at City Hall, and failing to tell the grand jury it could 

consider the additional hours outside of City Hall (and withholding uncontroverted evidence that 

Mikulski perfon11cd work outside of City Hall), the Prosecutor's presentation to t11e grand jury 

amounted to little mor~ than submitting "half-truths:· 

ft 's probably no surprise that the grand jury considered hours worked outside of City Hall 

a significant issue, as evidenced by the aforementioned question and other similar questions they 

asked drning the proceeding. (IT65 to 1T73) For example, when the issue of timesheets was 

mentioned, one juror asked, "were they only reporting time when they were in the office not 

including time like she said they worked 24/7, so it was only time that they were physically 

in the office?'' TI1e jmor groped for an answer to these rather strJightforward questions. "1 want 

to know if they were just City Hall hours'!'' ( I T66, 1-25) Instead of just answering these simple 

but crucial questions, the Prosecutor cleverly avoided them. Of course. with respect to Mikulski, 

the State very well knew that the time sheets included only City Hall hours, and that he provided 

a journa1 doi.;umenting additional time worked, and had also provided umefutcd evidence that he 

worked substantial hours outside of City Hall. (See Exhibit F) However, because the entire 

prosecution against Mikulski rests upon the State's absurd notion that ~ of the time he worked 

outside the confines of City Hall counts toward the 35-hour requirement, the State wryly refused 

to answer the pertinent juror questions, and left the grand jury guessing. There is no doubt that 

trnthful answers to the grand jury's simple questions were incongruent with the State's theory of 

prosecution. so the St~tc largely ignored the questions. To amplify this evasive tactic, the State 

also withheld the c,itical cYi<lem:e that Mikulski worked additional hourn above and beyond those 

refleded in the time sheets, and that he worked a minimum of 35 to 45 hours per week. In the 
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context of this prosecution, this sharp tactic was not only dc'ceitful. it was outragct)US, and rctardeJ 

the grnnct jury·~ primary deci~ion-making function. 

Staying on the 1t...1pic L1f "half-tru lhs; · lhc State knew tlut :ilthough Mikulski owned n 

lund1eoncttc in \Nildwood, he trained someone to take his position there when he ran for L)fficc. 

The ~tate knew that after he Vi' RS e lected, he devoted less than S hours per week to the restaurant, 

and only worked those scant hours on weekends. (See Exhibit F) l\'"eve11heless, the State offered 

stilted testimony suggesting that because Mikulski owned a business, he could not be a "full-time" 

employee of Wildwood and still devote 35 hours per week, and never mentioned the crucial fact 

that he worked less than 8 hours per week at the luncheonette. In fact, the Prosecutor hammered 

this point home when he elicited testimony that fonner commissioner- only worked about 

15-18 hours a week as a commissioner because he ran a hardware store, to create the inference that 

if a commissioner has a full-time job elsewhere, he or she could not work the requisite 35 hours 

per week for benefits. The State al o elicited testimony that one of Mikulski's fellow 

commissioners, _ worked fewer hours than Mikulski, as she had a full-time job with the 

County. After some irrelevant testimony concerning the former commissioner and Commissioner 

- the Prosecutor then addressed Mikulski. 

Prosecutor: Q. 
today, Troiano, Byron, 
and husinC''<SCs? 

A. 

Prosecutor: Q. 
" 1 est Cafe, correct? 

In fact1 didn't you learn that every Commissioner we mentioned 
Mikulski and of course ■■■■I they all bad other jobs 

And Mikulski owns and runs a restaurant in Wildwood, the Key 
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A. Yes. (2T79 to 2T80) 

This testimony was nothing more than a half-truth. The Detectives had interviewed Mikulski at 

kngth, and knew very well that he spent very little time at the restaurant after he was elected 

commissioner. The State was in possession of no evidence to the contrary. However, the 

Prosecutor. who has an overriding duty of candor and fair play, never mentioned these critical 

facts. Obviously, the only reason the Prosecutor adduced this testimony about the topic of owning 

a restaurant was to create the impression that Mikulski could not devote a full 35 hours per week 

to the City of Wildwood. Presenting the evidence in this stilted manner was nothing more than an 

underhanded trick . ft also compounded the problem of the withheld exculpatory evidence 

concerning the hours Mikul5:ki worked and what the grand jury was pem1itted to consider insofar 

as hours were concerned. 

The Prosecutor continued the sleight of hand when adducing testimony about the 

memorandum from Solicitor concerning the requirements for health benefits. (See 

Exhibit E.) 

Prosecntor: Q. Beyond that, does that memo state anywhere a conclusion or 
opinion that Mikulski actuaUy was eligible for or should receiye State health benefits through 
the City? 

Det.- A. ~o. (2T86 to 2T90) 

In fairnes::;, this response is technically truthful, in the same way Inspector -

response to the question of whether or not his dog bites was trnthful. ln a('tuality, the lll(;IUU didn"t 

say whether Mikulski was m was not eligible for the- benefits; rather, i1 indicated that for elected 

officials t1;1 ()b(a in llc·tlth bcm:fils they h:1d 10 ,v1 . .irk 35 lll)llrS per \\'C.;k . rt was disingenuous on the 

part of the State to suggest that the memo expressed a negative opinion about whether or not 
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Mikulski qualified for benefits. lt becomes clear that was exactly what the Prusecutor implied 

when he then c0nduded the grand jury questioning by improperly eliciting expert opinion 

1e~timony frvm Deiectivc (wilhliut qualifying her as such) on the ultimate i~suc of 

whether or not Mikulski worked 35 hours per week: 

Prosecutor: Q. Based on your investigation, the evidence you obtained, and the 
evidence we've discussed here today, particularly Mikulski's self-reported time sheets, was 
::\filmlski a full-time employee, as defined hy the statute and in the city attorney's memo we 
just discussed, a full-time employee, being one whose hours are fixed at 35 hours per week 
in his capacity as commissioner? 

Det.-: A. No. 

Prosecutor: Q. No as in he did not appear to be based on your investigation and 
all evidence that you were able to accumulate? 

D(•t.- A. Yes. (2T94, 1-14) 

With all due respect to the Prosecutor, the determination L)f whet.her Mikulski worked 35 

hours was a dec1si0n the grand jury was t>xclusin·ly charged io <lecicte. However. the improper 

expert opi11 il,11 testinwny quoted above deprived the grand jury of its dccisicin-making function 

when the Prosi:;cutor force fed the decision to the grand jury. Our Courts have esd1cwecl ex.pert 

testimony on the ultimate issue in the context of jury uials even frvrn properly qualiiied experts 

im·olving issues that are beyond the ken of lay jurists, none of which was present here. See State 

v. Cain, 224 N.J. 410 (2016) and State v. Simms, 224 N.J. 393 (20l(i). Although the Court's 

pronouncements with respect to ultimate opinion testimony in State v. Cain and State v. Simms 

were in the context of expert testimony in criminal jury trials, the precepts equally extend to grand 

jury presentations. A grand jury is as likely, if not more likely, to be influenced, perhaps unduly 

so, by the opinion testimony of expe1ienced police officers. In fact, it is submitted that the Court 

must be even more vigilant in barring oveneaching opinion testimony before a grand jury as in 
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this setting the defendant has no ability to contest the evidern;e being presented as he or she would 

in a jury trial. Thus, the danger 0f prejudice by such opinion testimony is even greater. As 

recogni ,:;ed by our Courts, such opinion testimony acutely affects any fact finder's deliberations, 

irrespectiYe of whether the fact finder is called upon to dctennine guilt, or simply to detern1inc 

whether there was enough evidence to indict Mikulski. ln the case at bar, without the il l-conceived 

expert 0pinion, the grand jury was fully capable of determining whether or not Milrnlski worked 

3 5 houi: per week as a commissioner. Instead, the Prosecutor had Det. testify as an expert, 

and opine that Mikulski did not quali fy for the health benefits. Putting aside the issue that Det. 

- reasoning wa~ substantially flawed, Det. - was certainly not qualified as an 

expert. Als0. the subject matter was certainly not the prnper subject of expert testimony in any 

evcnr as it was not bt'yon<l the ken or a lay person. Sec N.J.R.E. 70::!. Stated u!l1crwise, this 

testimony would nor be admissible in any context, yet it ·was presented to the gnmd jury. There is 

no d0uht that .such testimony had the -.apacity to und11ly influence the grand jury and deprive it of 

its crucial decision-making role. It w:is up to the grand jury and the gr:md jury alone to decide 

whether or not Mikulski 4ualified for benefits, and not for Dct. to force feed them the 

opinion that he did not. Under the circumstances, proffering this pseudo-expert opinion testimony 

affronted all concepts of due process and fundamental faime~s, and indelibly tainted the grand jury 

presentment as it related to 'Mikulski. Additionally, the improper testimony amplified the other 

perva nive defects in the pre ·entation as previously discussed and also discussed below. 

Finally. il wa. Lmfair for the Prosecutor lo repealedly compare Commissioner 

(and fom1c-r Commissioner- -.·ircumst:rnces with th:lt of Mikulski. - w::is one 

uf Mikulski's fr:llo,,· <."lllll!llissioncrs. She had a full-lime 910 5 job with Capt: May Coullty. and 

also received State Health Benefits through that County job. Because she had a full-time job with 
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the County, am! already received health benefits. she had less incentive lo work 35 hours per week 

ns :i commissioner. $he was fo1ihtight when she told the State's investigators that she workeci less 

tlun 35 l1L)lffS as a conunissioncr. Jlowcvcr, in her stalc111cI1t lo the State's invcstigntors, she was 

dear to say thal she did nol question Mikulski 's hours, nor would she say he was not a full-time 

employee when questioned. The Pt\)S('Clltion presente<l her slatements and time sheets for no other 

reason than to suggest thm because she admittedly worked only pmi time as a commissioner, 

Mikulski must also only work part-time. Again, the commissioners do not work a set schedule. 

Each of the commissioners is in charge of his or her distinct departments, have different 

supervision responsibilities, different work schedules, different management styles, and different 

WL1rk ethics. WlictJ1er or not - worked 35 hours or less, or whether for111c1 Commissioocr 

worked less than 35 hours per week, had absolutely no bearing whatsoever on the number 

oflwurs :'v1ikulski worked, :-incl was nothing mNe thnn a smoke screen. The irrelevant evidence 

co11ccmiog lier wurk llllurs, and those Wl)rkcd by - was pn.:scolcd si1nply to bamboozle the 

grand _iurv into thinking that Mikulski "fudged" his hours, even though the Slate knew he did not. 

In fact, the State conceded that Mikulski "accmately tracked" the hours he worked on any given 

day. (2T 116, lines 3-10) Simply stated, there was no legitimate reason to present evidence 

concerning - or I l when it was wholly in-elevant to the issues involving Mikulski 

(and the other defendants), and constituted another "half-truth." In context. presenting this 

111iskaJi11g c:vidc11cc was a110lhc1 insult to the- notions of due process and fair play in a grand jnry 

proceeding. 

Singularly, and in combination, the defects discussed abow poisoned the grand jmy 

presentation. Had the State presented the evidence fairly, Mikulski would have been cleared of 

any wrongdoing. For these reasons, the Indictment against Mikulski must be dismissed. 
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11. Joining the Three Defendants in the Same Presentation was Misleading and 
Unduly Confused the Issues and therebv Prejudiced Mikulsld. 

Perhaps it was easier for the State, but there was no legal or factual basis to join all three 

defendants in one grand jury presentation. Indeed, it 'Nas improper for the State to join all three 

defendants in a single indictment, as the there was no claim that the defendants conspired or 

colluded with one another in their alleged wrongdoing. Moreover, the evidence against each 

defendant is largely separate and distinct from the others, and the only common thread between 

the three is that they all happen to be elected officials in the City of Wildwood charged with 

illegally obtaining health benefits. The crimes charged against Troiano occurred in the decade prior 

to Mikulski taking office. \.1ost of the allegations against Byron occurred before Mikulski was 

sworn in, and certainly under much diffore11t circumstances. From Mikulski's point of view, the 

evidence against Troiano and Byron is far more compelling than the evidence against him, albeit 

different. Even a cursory review of the defense briefs suggests that the defendants' defenses are 

antagonistic. Lumping Mikulski and the others together in one grand jury proceeding created 

undue confusion, and prejudiced Mi.k.'1.tlski, whose circumstances were much different than the 

other defendants. 

In Statev. Sterling, 215 N.J. 65, 72 (2013), the New Jersey Supreme Court recognized that 

there arc ·'basic principles governing joinder of offenses" in an indictment. Those principles are 

set forth in R. 3: 7-6, which provides" 

Two or more offenses may be charged in tbe same indictment or 
accusation in a separate count for each offense if the offenses 
charged are of the same or similar character or are based on the same 
act or transaction or on 2 or more acts or transactions connected 
rogether or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan. Relief 
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from prejudicial joinder shall be afforded by &.._3: l 5-2. 

The Rule '·addresses the inherent 'danger[,] when several crimes are tried together, that the 

jury may use the evidence cumulatively; that is, that, although so much as would be admissible 

upon any one of the charges might not have persuaded them of the accused· s guilt, the sum of it 

will convince them as to all. "' Sterling. at 73 quoting State v. Pitts, 116 N.J . 580,601 (1989). No 

less is trne in a grand jury setting. In this case, it is clear that the charges against each defendant 

would not meet the requirements of R. 3: 7-6. "The test for assessing prejudice is 'whether, 

assuming the charges were tried separately, evidence of the offenses sought to be severed would 

be admissible under ['\J.J.R.E. 404(b)] in the trial of the remaining charges. " ' Sterling, quoting 

Statev. Chenigue-Puey , 145 N.J. 334,341 (1996). ln this case, the charges against each, and the 

evidence suppo1ti11g the drnrges, is not only irrelevant to the other defendant's charges, but also 

mislead ing and unduly confusing and time consuming when lumped together. See N.J.R..E. 403. 

Ce1tainly, if Mikulski was hied separately, the State could not introduce evidence against Troiano 

or Byron in his trial. or vice versa. Consequently, it was improper for the Stat<:' to join the charges 

in the same grand jury proceeding. 

There can be no doubt that Mikulski was prejudiced by the improper _ioinder. Indeed, his 

defenses to the charges against him are nearly bulletproof. He applied for health benefits through 

nonnal channds. He perfonned his due diligence before he applied for same. As the 

aforementioned LFN rec1)mmends, he consulted with the City Sol icitor and Labor Cou11sd before 

applying. He reliecl upon their advice. His employment as a commissioner was his "p1imary 

ernpk1y111cnt." He was working well in excess of 35 hours per week in his capacity as 

commissioner. The City of Wildwood, by Resolution enacted in 2011 , recognized the position of 

commissioner as ·'full-time'' for the purposes of the statute. Reliance upon the Resolution was 
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reasonable. HR approved his application for health benefits when he applied 5 months after he was 

sworn in. Indeed, HR completed a "payroll change in status" fom1 and attached a memo to it, both 

L)f which indicated that Mikulski was a "full-time" employee. The New Jersey Department of 

Pensions and Benefits approved his application. Mikulski took a reduction in salary to offset his 

contribution for the health benefits. According to the LFN, his decision to obtain benefits need 

only be "reasonable," not necessarily correct. In this case, it was both. 1n contrast, the only 

evidence the State can offer to substantiate the charges against Mikulski are its debatable 

contentions that his time sheets, which include only time spent in City Hall, do not meet the 35 

hour per week requirement, and that only time spent in City Hall counts towards the hourly 

requirement. (Presumably, at trial. the jury will he instructed to con:sider all hours worked, 

im.;spective of whether it was inside ur outsi<lc of City Hall.) 

On the other hand, the grand jury heard testimony that Troiano and Byron certified on time 

shc-ets that they worked 7 hours per day 5 day::< per week, in-especlive of whether lhey actually 

worked anywhere or came into City TI all. Unlike Mikulski, neither of them tracked any of their 

time in any verifiabk maimer whatSL)ever. As to Troiano and Byron, the State submitted 

documents demonstrating that they were on vacation or working elsewhere during some of the 

days nnd hours they claimed to have worked 7 hours on their time sheets. Thus, unlike Mikulski , 

the Stale contends that their time sheets were fraudulent. (The State concedes that Mikulski's 

time sheets were accurate.) Perhaps more importantly, the State presented evidence to the grand 

jury that the fonner City S()li...:itor and fonner City Administrator actually met with Troiano and 

nyron nnd infonncd them that they were not eligible for health benefits and that they were going 

to gt't in troubk if they c~rntinucd colkcting health b011dits. If true, this is darn11i11g evidence. Of 

course, this meeting would have been several years before Mikulski took office, and be had no 
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knowledge of such a meeting. if it even occutTed, as it was not memorialized or documented in 

::rnywhere. Frnihcr, Troian0 was aJso the m<1yor, and Byron WRS a corn1nissi0ner, in 2011 when 

Resolution '.?.27 -6-11 was passed which Jcc\arcd the BtiarJ of Cum11is.sioncrs as "full-time" 

employees. The State's position seems to be that the Resolution is '·self-serving." However, it 

remained on the hooks: \-Vhen Mikulski took office_ and Mikulski had every right to re]~, upon it. 

Apparently, this may not be the case with the others. 

With respect to Byron, in addition to alleging that he falsified his time cards, and was told 

by the former City Solicitor that he did not qualify for benefits, the State presented evidence that 

he had another full-time position in Atlantic City during the time period he claimed to be a ful l-

time empluycc of WildWLlOU. Ad Jitionally, the State presented cvidc11ce that he wns also employed 

as a real tor for a local real estate agency, as well as spending significant time away. Other than 

unfairly irn.1 lying that Mikulski was tied up Rt hi~ luncheonette. the State made no such claims 

,tga inst Mikulski. 

Additio11al!y, the State prcscnteJ eYiden.:c Lhar numeroLts present or former 1:.~mployccs and 

official were interviewed hy the State during the investigation. However, when discussing 

Troi:ino, Byron and former commissioner-during the grand jury presentation, the State 

confused Mikulski with when it asked an important question: 

Prosecutor: Q. And more specifically, they [witnesses} all essentially told you that, 
based on their observations and experience, Troiano, Byron and Mikulski just didn't 
mainhtin City work scherlnles 0f at least 15 hotffli per week if, for no other reason. the 
positions simply did not gencr:1lly involn t.'nough work to rt>quire full-time hours, <.'01Tt1 t·r? 

Yes, that's corn:d. (2T45, linel to 2T46, line~) 

It is quite clear that i.u the context ofthe colluy_uy that came: immediately before and after the above 

question rhat the Prosecutor was refening to Troiano. l3yron and - not Mikulski. (Sec 2T, 
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43 - 2T 4b) However, the Prosecutor haphazardly injected Mikulski into the question. Moreover, 

that isn't the only time that the State inte1mingled Mikulski with the other defendants when 

lliscussing e\ idence thal had nothing to do witl1 him or the charges against him. This is evident 

throughout the transcripts of the February 17, 2023 and March 10, 2023 proceedings. 

Finally, the State prejudiced Mikulski immensely when it told the grand jmy that, "the 

grand total of all these public funds expended based on their participation in the State's Benefits 

Program exceeds a million dollars ... :· and thereby suggested some concerted conduct on the part 

of the defendants. In reality, the State' s specific contention against Mikulski was that Wildwood 

paid 01.n $31.000.00 in premiums. and the health plan paid out $72,000.00 in claims, nowhere near 

:i million dollars. Despite the foct that the charges against each defendant involved independent 

conduct and starkly distinct and separat~ proofs, and Btl <..:(lllllsion ur conspiracy was nllegcd, the 

State aggregated the restitution amounts pertaining lo each defendant in order lo exaggerate the 

seriousness 0f the case against each defendant, particularly Mikulski, when it told the grand jury 

the case involved o,·er a "million dolbrs" in stolen funds. In and of itself this tactic may not have 

ab1idgeJ Mikulski' s right to a fair and impartial grand jury process, but it's certainly inconsistent 

with s prosecutor's duty of fair play. However, it becomes magnified when considered in 

comhinntion with the other defects in the presentation, notably those discussed above. Likewise, 

the acute potential for prejudice underscl)rcs the impropriety of the joinder for the purposes the 

gnmd jury presentation. 

In com:lusion. the joinder of the defendants in one grand jury prol:ecding, combined with 

the other dcll"cts in rhc pres<'.'ntntion, \'iolntl"d the State-'s duty of fai r play, trampled upon tht> 611·and 

jury's c.ll;cision-maki11g ft1111..:. litHl, and suh\'t:rtcd the grn11d jury process as lo Mikulski. f,\1r these 

reasons. the indictment must be dismissed. 
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Conclusion 

As to Miku lski, he grand jury presentment was fatally defective. The State withheld clearly 

exculpatory evidence that Mikulski worked in excess of 35 hours per week. Moreover, it presented 

much of the evidence in a false light or in a manner that amounted to "half-truths." The manner in 

which the State presented the case was also misleading and unduly confusing. Additionally, the 

State solicited improper expert testimony from the investigator who testified. The State refused to 

answer inquiries by grand jurors about critical factual and legal issues. Likewise, the State 

improperly instructed the grand jury as to the law, confused proofs involving the co-defendants' 

conduct and that of other third patties with that of Mikulski, and improperly joined all three 

defendants into one grand jury proceeding despite the fact that the charges against each defendant 

were unrelated and involved starkly different proofs. Had the State presented the evidence in a fair 

manner, it is likely that Mikulski would have been cleared of any alleged wrongdoing. Singularly, 

or in combination, these defects unlawfully tainted the presentation and deprived the grand jrny of 

its decision-making function. For these reasons, the Indictment against Mikulski must be 

dismissed. 

DAS/mvk 
cc: Brain Uzdavinis, DAG 

S. Mikulski 

z ~ tfully u:t~:l'Y\. 

David A. 
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